CIVIL CAUSE NO.: NO. 2010-CA-00369 CONNIE MACK DOUGLAS AND WIFE CHARLENE DOUGLAS, APPELLANTS VS. DENBURY ONSHORE, LLC, APPELLEE APPELLANT'S BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF APPEAL ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Bill Waller, Sr. MSB No Waller & Waller, Attorneys Post Office Box 4 220 South President Street Jackson, Mississippi 39205 (601) 354-5252 Attorney for the Appellant

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

CIVIL CAUSE NO.: 2010-CA-00369

CONNIE MACK DOUGLAS AND WIFE CHARLENE DOUGLAS, APPELLANTS

VS.

DENBURY ONSHORE,LLC, APPELLEE

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. An original and first impression on an issue concerning the ownership of an abandoned oil well bore and improvements and to determine whether the owner of the surface land or the owner of the mineral estate owns or controls the abandoned well. It was error for the Chancery Court to rule that since the mineral estate is the dominate estate the mineral owners independently own the well bore to the exclusion of the surface owner even though the subject well bore had been abandoned for 34 years continuously, and no lease was executed by the surface owners. The real owner of this asset is Denbury with no value, directly or indirectly, being given to the owners of the mineral estate.
- 2. The authority of the Oil and Gas board acting through an order granting a Compulsive Fieldwide Unit to grant the ownership and use of an abandoned oil well bore. It was error for the Chancery Court to rule that the Oil and Gas Board had the authority to grant the exclusive use of an abandoned oil well to the field operator, Denbury, the appellee in this case.
- 3. Whether or not the Chancery Court had jurisdiction to determine issues concerning nuisance and personal injury arising out of the operation of the subject oil wells on the land owners residential premises. It was error for the Chancery Court to dismiss these claims stating that it did not have jurisdiction.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Douglases own 86.37 acres of land and a fraction of the minerals located in Section 11, Township 6 North, Range 8 East in Lincoln County, Mississippi and which land is located within the East Mallalieu Oil Field. Situated on the land owned by the Douglases is a well bore of 8,734 feet containing improvements including tubing and casing. The Douglases contend that they are the sole owner of the well bore which was abandoned by Chevron on April 9, 1968. All mineral leases owned by Chevron expired at about the same time.

In 2002, or 34 years after the abandonment, Denbury began taking new oil and gas leases in Section 11. The object or goal of Denbury was to reenter the East Mallalieu Field and inject it with CO2 to produce additional oil that was not produced in the period of time that the field was operated by Chevron. In keeping with the overall plan, Denbury sent representatives to see the Douglases and offer them a Standard Form Lease with an addendum. The addendum is an important fact because it provided the following language: "...the right to re-enter and use plugged and abandoned well bores, casing, tubing and other facilities on or under said land..." Denbury proposed to build an access road and pipeline across the Douglas' property and tendered \$1,800 as consideration for the use of the land and submitted a proposed Damage Release and Easements. This document also contained the same language and conveyed the right to Denbury to the exclusive use of the well bore. Neither document was executed, no consideration was paid, and no approval was granted by the surface owners.

The Douglases declined to sign the Oil and Gas Lease or to sign the Release and did not take any part in the reentry of the East Mallalieu Field.

The ownership of the minerals was conveyed to many separate owners in the period

following 1947, however, the Douglases do own a fraction of the minerals in Section 11 and following the re-entry by Denbury in the East Mallalieu Field the Douglases have been paid working interest income of about \$300,000, however, it is noteworthy that Denbury has a net income of several hundred million from the East Mallalieu Field.

The Douglases maintained there dwelling house on this property and outbuildings including a dairy barn, cattle pasture, vegetable garden and related uses. There is one abandoned well in front of their dwelling house that Denbury elected not to use, but chose to use the one situated near the back of the dwelling house and adjacent to the bedroom. There was no agreement and no ratification of the acts of Denbury when it built a pipeline and an access road off of the public road and placed a fence around the well head, encompassing about ½ an acre of land. The Douglases contend that the 7/24 activity around the oil well disturbed their peaceful use of the dwelling house and gave them an unusual amount of stress based upon the noise and the activities plus the fact that Denbury was in essence, trespassers.

Accordingly, the Douglases filed suit in the Chancery Court of Lincoln County, Mississippi to recover the value of the well bore, surface damages, and personal injury damages arising from the arbitrary and capricious use of the abandoned well situated adjacent to and a few feet from their dwelling house.

Both parties filed Motions for Summary Judgment (R. 208, 499, 503, 507, 510) and the hearing was conducted before the Chancery Court of Lincoln County on January 15, 2010, following which the Chancery Court denied Douglas' Motions and granted Denbury's Motion for Summary Judgment. In the bench opinion, the lower court referred to an 1891 Pennsylvania coal mining case as authority for its ruling, but when the written opinion was given on February 27, 2010 that

authority was not used. (R. 635, R.E. 004).

Dismissal of the Complaint was based upon the lower court's opinion that the severed mineral owners had the exclusive and independent right to use or ownership of the well bore because the mineral estate is dominant and the land surface estate is subservient. (R.635, R.E.004). That was error because the dominant right of mineral owners pertains only to exploration and production of the minerals. It has nothing to do with the surface ownership or assets or fixtures connected therewith. As stated in the Statement of Issues, the question before the Court is an original and first impression and the Court is called upon to enter a new rule of law clarifying and/or defining the ownership of abandoned property such as an oil well bore.

The Douglases take the position that there is absolutely no precedent in this or any other state that sets gives the ownership and control of abandoned oil field equipment to the mineral owners.

There are cases holding that abandoned oil wells become the exclusive property of the surface owner.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In making a decision on this appeal, it will be necessary for the Court to consider whether or not the Chancery Court of Lincoln County has jurisdiction to hear issues involving an abandoned oil well bore; damages arising from the unnecessary and extraordinary use of the Douglas' land; and whether or not the lower court has jurisdiction to award damages for personal injuries arising out of the same subject matter.

Certain material facts in this case are not disputed, including the fact that the Douglases own a homestead 86.37 acres of land in Section 11 and that they are the fee simple title owners of the surface of that acreage which encompasses on all sides of the abandoned oil well bore. Furthermore, they own a fraction of the minerals in Section 11 and have received working interest income from the production in East Mallalieu Field totaling more than \$300,000. State law requires all mineral owners to be paid regardless of no lease.

There are two wells on this homestead acreage, one in front of the house and one immediately behind or in the rear of the house. Denbury arbitrarily chose to use the well bore at the back door of the Douglas' premises and they commenced a 7/24 re-entry operation building a rode, pipeline and servicing the well which is used as a well to inject CO2 into the East Mallalieu well area, forcing additional oil to be produced. It was more convenient and less expensive for Denbury to use this well as opposed to numerous other wells located in the unitized field.

There is no dispute that most of the minerals in Section 11 were split up and partited with the ownership going to non-resident oil speculators with some being retained by the surface owners in Section 11 and surrounding area. One of the mineral owners in Section 11 was Mr. Douglas' mother who did not lease and who died after the re-entry in the well. He is an heir to a part of these

minerals also. The land records of Lincoln County, Mississippi verify that the mineral ownership was split up and is now owned by numerous individuals and entities. Denbury did not lease 100% of the minerals in Section 11 and filed a Forced Integration Petition with the Oil and Gas Board. In due course, they obtained an Order granting a compulsory field wide unit which the lower court used as a backup or second reason for allowing the mineral estate owners exclusive ownership and/or use of the abandoned well bore. (R.185, R.E.034). The Douglases take the position that the jurisdiction and/or authority of the Oil and Gas Board deals with their right to grant drilling permits on exact locations and to force integrate mineral owners who have not signed oil and gas leases. There is no dispute that such an Order was entered in this case and that the Douglases had notice by mail of a hearing to grant the Order. (R.185, R.E.034). The Petition to force integrate mineral owners who have not signed leases is both incomplete and misleading because the legal description and the exact number of mineral acres owned is not stated in the Petition. However, the Petition in and of itself establishes the fact that Denbury was the lessee of only a part of the mineral ownership. Denbury did not mention old "abandoned oil wells" in the Petition or Order forcing the conclusion that the Order has no connection or bearing upon the subject well.

Among the rather unique facts involving this oil well is the fact that it is an "injection well", that is a "pipe line" to transport CO2 gas from a surface pipeline through a vertical underground pipeline (the oil well) to petroleum reserves located somewhere in the East Mallalieu Field. An "injection well" cannot be classified as an exploration or oil producing well. Add to this undisputed use is the existence of many other abandoned wells available to Denbury and upon which they had surface owners leases. The subject well is not included in any document signed by either a surface or mineral owner.

The Douglases offered by deposition the testimony of two experts who were well qualified and who studied the relative value of this abandoned oil well bore. That testimony establishes that this improvement is worth in the range of \$700,000 and that it was a very valuable and substantial instrument or pipeline in the re-entry and production of oil from the East Mallalieu Field.

Denbury has acknowledged that the Douglases own the subject well bore and attempted to obtain an easement for a nominal sum, having made personal contacts and written letters to the Douglases. (R.227, 229, 233, R.E. 039, 041, 045). In approaching the Douglases to sign a Standard Form Producers 88 Oil and Gas Lease on their land, Denbury added an addendum which transferred the right of use of the abandoned well from the Douglases to Denbury. (R. 233, R.E. 045). This lease was not signed. Likewise, the same language was incorporated in a Release when Denbury offered to pay a sum of money to the Douglases for surface use in exchange for the General Release.

The undisputed facts regarding the history of this oil well are that Chevron opened production of the East Mallalieu Field in 1947, drilling numerous wells throughout a large area including the two wells located on the Douglas' property. On April 9, 1968, Chevron plugged and abandoned the subject oil well. Noteworthy is the fact that there is no transfer of title or control of this well and the abandonment was complete and continuous for this well and the East Mallalieu Field until sometime in the early part of 2002 when Denbury attempted to obtain new oil and gas leases and reenter and establish production in the field. The original oil and gas leases held by Chevron expired and 100% of the mineral interest reverted back to the mineral owners, some of whom owned surface rights and some of whom did not. After 34 years, the Douglases take the position that the well bore and improvements became their property, and since it had been abandoned for that period of time, the mineral interest owners had no right or ownership in the well bore. The Texas and Oklahoma cases

rule that an operator has a reasonable amount of time to remove oil well equipment meaning that failure to remove within a reasonable time results in abandonment and transfers ownership of the fixture to the surface owner. We found no cases holding that the abandoned wells become the property of or were controlled by the mineral owners.

Assume for comparison with the case law in several oil producing states that Chevron had obtained new leases and unitized the East Mallalieu Field, a land owner lease on th well site might have vested Chevron with the right to reuse the well. Such comparison cannot be made in the subject case because the benefactor is not Chevron and there is no lease from the surface owner. Several reported cases in Texas hold that the operator has a right to use the abandoned well where the surface owner has signed a Standard Form Oil and Gas Lease. The issues raised are usually between the surface-mineral owner lessor and reentry by the original operator lessee.

IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court granted summary judgment in favor of Denbury holding that the mineral estate owners, as the dominant estate, owned the well bore and equipment to the exclusion of the owner of the surface rights. The rationale for this ruling is quite different and uses support from both the theory that the mineral estate is the dominant estate and that the Order of the Oil and Gas Board integrating the unit gave Denbury the right to use the well bore in question. However, we find no precedent in this or in any other State to support the lower court's ruling, thereby the question is one of original impression and a new and distinctly different rule of law was made by the lower court if the court's ruling is upheld.

On page 10 of the February 22, 2010 Opinion of the lower court, the conclusions of law are set out:

Based on the foregoing recitation of undisputed facts and law, this Court finds that the well bore in issue is clearly part of the mineral estate. The well bore and casing are clearly part of the subsurface. Nothing in question is above ground. The well bore and casing have no use other than for the development of the mineral estate and the surface owner has no ability to utilize the well bore and casing for any surface use. Any utilization of the well bore and casing by the surface owner would be to the detriment, or benefit, of the mineral estate which the surface owner has no interest. Therefore, the Well and casing cannot be owned by the surface estate. A well bore and well casing, once abandoned, has only one potential use, and that is reentry for the exploration and production of oil, gas and other minerals or as in this case, a part of a tertiary recovery effort. As part of the mineral estate, Denbury has the right to use the Well and casing in any manner appropriate in their operations. The Court specifically finds plugged and abandoned well bores are part of the mineral estate and as part of the mineral estate, the dominant estate owners have the right to use it in any manner that is appropriate, and which have been approved by the Mississippi State Oil and Gas Board, which, in this case, was approved by a drilling permit to drill this well and use it in tertiary recovery efforts.

(R.645, R.E.013).

The lower court offered a second basis for ruling in favor of Denbury when it referred to the Compulsory Fieldwide Unit, stating that the Order combines all leases into a common lease. The lower court pointed out that the Douglases had received notice, but failed to appear and that Denbury had acquired the requisite percentage of royalty working interest owners' approval within the unit and that it was properly approved by the Oil and Gas Board. Quoting the court, "the court must consider that, at no point, did the Plaintiffs object to the plan of unitization, the formation of the unit and the eventual implementation of the unit even though they enjoyed the statutory right to so object." (R.645, R.E.013). However, there is no way that a fractional mineral interest owner could prevent the formation of a fieldwide unit and prevent the production of oil and gas at a given location. Since a majority of the mineral interest owners had approved of the fieldwide unit, the minority interest had no standing to stop, alter, or delay the granting of the Order. Nevertheless, there is no authority and none was cited, holding that an administrative board's right to regulate the production of oil and gas includes the granting of auxillary to transfer the use or title of an abandoned well to a "new oil and gas lessee" and we emphasize that 100% of the value of this improvement went directly to a multinational oil and gals conglomerate. Mineral owners are paid "royalty" on production and are not charged with cost of production. This valuable asset benefitted only Denbury- not the mineral lessors.

On the issue of the ownership of the abandoned oil well bore, there are no authorities cited and no law journal articles or publications referred to that excludes the surface owner right and ownership of this type of asset and moves the ownership and control over to the mineral owners exclusively.

There are no oil and gas cases rendered by any court in Mississippi touching upon this issue,

therefore, we are required to use the law of real property related to other fixtures and improvements.

The rule regarding separate mineral interest as creating a separate and distinct estate with dominant control over the exploration and production of the minerals is not a question to be decided by the Court because that rule of law stands alone and is not controlling in this case.

Improvements placed in the ground become the property of the owner of the ground.

We agree that the mineral estate gives an exploration company the right to use as much of the surface over and around the minerals as necessary to explore and gain production of the minerals. As in customary use, "explore" means to locate commercial quality of oil and gas. The use scope of the law deals only with "use of the surface to explore" and does not include valuable assets affixed to the surface. Again, that rule has no application here since the use of the land by Denbury went further when it confiscated and assumed control and ownership of a well bore and improvements worth several hundred thousand dollars without compensation to either the surface owner or the mineral owners. Bear in mind that when an owner of minerals signs a standard form oil and gas lease, he receives two valuable considerations, namely, a bonus payment upon the execution of the lease; and a free cost of exploring the minerals to determine if oil or gas can be produced; and a royalty which is paid based upon the gross quantity produced with no drilling, completion or operating cost charged against this royalty. Taking that into consideration the mineral owner has transferred its assets to the operator for very valuable consideration. That being true, then what rationale can be conjured up to give a well bore improvement worth several hundred thousand dollars to the production company free and clear. Since Denbury did not have to drill a new well and provide the hardware required to make it an injection well, they gained a valuable return independent of any interest by the mineral owners. Stated another way, Denbury has profited from an abandoned

oil well and has paid nothing whatsoever for that valuable asset. The law does not approve or condone confiscation or wrongful conversion of private property.

V. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

In view of the fact that a new rule of law regarding the ownership of abandoned improvements and fixtures must be adopted by the Court and in doing so it must rewrite the law of real property if improvements placed on the land escheat to the mineral owners.

A backup support or basis used by the trial court to transfer the oil well improvements to the mineral owners was its interpretation of the authority of the Oil and Gas Board when granting a unitization order. That ruling must be approved or rejected by the Court.

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