SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CONNIE MACK DOUGLAS AND WIFE, CHARLENE DOUGLAS

APPELLANTS

VS.

ŝ

1

ł

1

CASE NO. 2010-CA-00369

DENBURY ONSHORE, LLC

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, DENBURY ONSHORE, LLC

ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LINCOLN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

SUBMITTED BY:

William F. Blair (MSB Notes) Troy Farrell Odom (MSB Notes) ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE, DENBURY ONSHORE, LLC

BLAIR & BONDURANT, P.A. 1368 Old Fannin Road, Suite 300 Brandon, Mississippi 39047 Post Office Box 321423 Jackson, Mississippi 39232 Telephone: 601.992.4477 Telecopier: 601.992.9189 <u>bill@bbfirm.com</u> troy@bbfirm.com

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

L

1.

÷ .

Under these facts, the hole belongs to the mineral estate owner, not the Plaintiffs. Denbury obtained the authority to re-enter the Well upon acquiring oil leases from the mineral owners and unitizing the Unit pursuant to the Compulsory Unitization Act. Plaintiffs admitted that Denbury had the right to drill a brand new well one foot away. It is incredulous to argue that a mineral lessee has the right to drill a brand new well, causing extensive and unnecessary surface disturbance, but not re-enter an existing, abandoned well one foot away.

The Plaintiffs stipulated that the underground hole became part of the realty:

Deposition of Marcial Forester, Sr.

- Mr. Waller: Just a minute. There's no issue in this lawsuit about removing the equipment. Why are you dealing why are you dealing with that?
- Mr. Blair: Your whole Motion for Summary Judgment, Governor Waller, is on the fact that this is a trade fixture that can be removed, and I'm establishing that that's not correct.
- Mr. Waller: That's not a trade fixture. We don't it's part of the land. 35 years of abandonment it became part of the land; it's not a trade fixture.

Mr. Blair: We agree with that.

(R. 464)

j,

Į.

Chevron salvaged all the uncemented casing that could be removed from the hole. It is

not possible to retrieve the remaining casing. The Plaintiffs' own experts testified to this fact:

Marcial Forester, Sr.:

- Q. Have you been asked or have you given any opinions of the value of the materials in the well if they were to be removed from the ground?
- A. No, because it's almost impossible to remove them.

(R. 461)

Harold Mayer:

- Q. And isn't it true that that casing in the ground is cemented in the ground and would be difficult, if not impossible, to remove from the ground?
- A. Very impossible.

(R. 480)

Inextricably, Plaintiffs further attempt to favorably use the Texas appellate court case, Browning v. Mellon Exploration Co., 636 S.W.2d 536 (Tex. Ct. App. 1982). However, that case actually favors Denbury. In Browning, at one time, M. E. Gary owned both the surface and mineral estates. Id. at 537. The land contained an abandoned oil well. Id. Gary conveyed the surface but reserved the mineral estate. Id. A dispute arose between the surface owner and a new mineral lessee who wanted to re-enter the abandoned well. Id. While the appellate court declined to rule on the merits, it did find that the mineral lessee showed a probable right to use the wellbore. Id. at 538-39.

In another Texas case, *Mapco Inc. v. Carter*, 808 S.W.2d 262 (Tex. Ct. App. 1991), the appellate court considered whether a cavern created by one of the parties within an underground naturally occurring salt dome constitute a part of the mineral estate. *Id.* at 264. The Court held that the artificially created storage facility belonged to the mineral estate, not the surface estate. *Id.* at 270. Once abandoned as a storage facility, the Court found that it "reverted back to the original mineral owners in accordance with their respective ownership interest". *Id.* The Texas appellate court similarly emphasized the power and corporeal real existence of the mineral estate:

Texas adopted the view that interest in minerals, such as oil, gas, salt and other minerals, are susceptible of ownership in place in the ground prior to production of the minerals at or on the surface. The Texas rule is that this interest in minerals is an interest in real property. Thus, the fee mineral owners retain a property ownership, right and interest after the underground storage facility -- here a cavern -- had been created. These same fee mineral owners are vested with ownership rights, including, of course, entitlement to compensation for the use of the cavern.

The chancellor was then eminently correct in finding as a fact and concluding as a law point that the walls of the underground storage cavern belonged to the fee mineral interest owners.

. . .

Id. at 274 (emphasis added).

As this Court is aware, Mississippi generally follows Texas case law on oil and gas matters of first impression. *Williamson v. Elf Aquitaine, Inc.* 138 F.3d 546, 551 (5th Cir. 1998).

All of the old underground casing is permanently affixed to the earth. It is no different than Denbury simply drilling through the earth itself. The dominant mineral estate granted to Denbury the right to use so much of the surface and subsurface as is reasonably necessary for oil and gas exploration. See *Turner*, 908 So. 2d at 854-55. Under any scenario, whether it belongs to the surface or mineral owner, Denbury has the right to re-enter the hole without payment to the Plaintiffs.

3. <u>The Lower Court Correctly Found That the Board Approved Plan of</u> Unitization Provides Denbury the Right to Use the Well.

In 1964, Mississippi adopted the Compulsory Unitization Act, which provides for compulsory pooling of oil and gas interests. MISS. CODE ANN. § 53-3-101 *et seq*. (attached hereto as the Appendix). This procedure is referred to as "compulsory unitization" because the various owners, tracts, units, and wells in the entirety of the unit area are forced into the unit by

operation of the statute and are subject to the Unit even if they do not voluntarily join. *Id.* § 53-3-107; see *Palmer Expl., Inc. v. Dennis,* 730 F. Supp. 734, 736 (S.D. Miss. 1989) (recognizing utility and history of Mississippi's Compulsory Unitization Act). Two requirements exist: first, the Board must approve the plan of unitization; second, 75% of the working interest and royalty owners must approve the plan of unitization. MISS. CODE ANN. § 53-3-107.

The Compulsory Unitization Act requires that operators seeking to use this statute must provide notice by issuing a Public Notice by publication. *Id.* § 53-3-115. The Board is required to mail notice to all persons owning interests within the unit area; however, failure to do so does not invalidate the proceeding or any order issued therefrom. *Id.*

These statutes have specific items that must be contained in the plan of unitization which is commonly found in two documents, one for both royalty and working interest owners known as the unit agreement, and another for working interest owners, known as the unit operating agreement.⁹ The plan of unitization must contain a provision for adjustment among the owners of the unit area of their respective interest in wells, tanks, pumps, machinery, materials, and equipment attributable to the unit operations. *Id.* § 53-3-105(d). This is generally referred to in the industry as investment equalization. Investment equalization is determined by the working interest owners of the unit. *Id.*

In this case, Denbury petitioned the Board to adopt a compulsory unit and submitted the Plan of Unitization containing both a Unit Agreement and Unit Operating Agreement. Denbury timely published the public notice. The Board secretary mailed a package to be sent to all owners, including the Plaintiffs, containing a copy of the Petition, Public Notice, Unit

⁹ Working interest owners include both oil and gas lessees and unleased mineral interest owners. The Plaintiffs are the latter category.

Agreement, and Unit Operating Agreement. Denbury also sent a letter directly to the Plaintiffs notifying them of the hearing and asking for their support for the Petition.

Despite receiving these notices, the Plaintiffs failed to file any contest of the petition to approve the Plan of Unitization, failed to attend the public hearing, and failed to otherwise contest the Plan of Unitization. By Order dated September 17, 2003, the Board approved the Plan of Unitization. The Plaintiffs did not appeal that Order.

Thereafter, Denbury secured the statutory 75% approval of royalty and working interest owners and filed a second Petition and Public Notice, this time to implement the Plan of Unitization. Denbury published a second public notice. Once again, the Plaintiffs failed to appear or contest this petition. The Board approved the second petition and the Unit became effective on November 1, 2003, and the Plan of Unitization went into full force and effect.

Regardless of ownership, the Plan of Unitization controls all issues raised herein by very specific language. Paragraph 3.1 of the Unit Agreement provides:

<u>Oil and Gas Rights Unitized</u>. All Oil and Gas Rights of Royalty Owners in and to the Tracts identified in Exhibit "A" and shown on Exhibit "B" and all Oil and Gas Rights of Working Interest Owners in and to said lands, are hereby unitized insofar as the respective Oil and Gas Rights pertain to the Unitized Formations, so that Unit Operations may be conducted with respect to the Unitized Formations as if the Unit Area had been included in a single lease executed by all Royalty Owners, as lessors, in favor of all Working Interest Owners, as lessees, and **as if the lease contained all of the provisions of this Agreement**.

(R. 366; R.E. 8) (emphasis added).

Paragraph 3.8 of the Unit Agreement provides:

Working Interest Owners shall have the right to place, maintain and operate an injection well or wells for such purposes at a location or locations on the Unit Area to be chosen by Working Interest Owners. **Royalty Owners** also grant unto Working Interest Owners the right to use and convert producing wells, abandoned oil or gas wells and dry holes, and to drill new wells on the Unit Area for said purposes and for the purpose of producing water or salt water for injection into the Unitized formations underlying the Unit Area and underlying other lands in the vicinity of the Unit Area.

(R.367; R.E. 8) (emphasis added).

Paragraph 10.1 of the Unit Agreement provides:

<u>Grant of Easements</u>. Working Interest Owners shall have the right to use as much of the surface of the land and/or subsurface of the land within the Unit Area as may be reasonably necessary for Unit Operations and the removal of Unitized Substances from the Unit Area and the disposal of produced fluids from the Unit Area.

(R. 372; R.E. 8).

Paragraph 10.3.1 of the Unit Agreement provides:

Working Interest owners have the right to use without compensation any machinery, wells, equipment or fixtures located on the Unit Area which may be useful to Unit Operations, including but not limited to any shut-in wells, temporarily abandoned wells, plugged wells, and pipelines, whether above or below ground.

Id. (emphasis added).

1.

i .

The Unit Operating Agreement provides:

- 10.1 <u>Property Taken Over</u>. Upon the Effective date hereof, Working Interest Owners shall deliver to Unit Operator the following:
- 10.1.1 <u>Well s.</u> All Wells completed in the Unit Pool, including but not limited to all shut-in wells, **temporarily abandoned** wells and plugged wells.
- 10.1.2 Equipment. The casing and tubing in each such well, the wellhead connections thereon, and all other lease and operating equipment that is used in the operation of such wells and processing of hydrocarbons which Working

Interest Owners determine is necessary or desirable for conducting Unit Operations.

(R. 393; R.E. 7). While the casing is to be inventoried, it is not assigned any value. Id.

Plaintiffs own unleased mineral interests in the Unit. They are working interest owners subject to the Plan of Unitization. The Board properly created and implemented the Unit. Even if this Court finds the Well belongs to the Plaintiffs, Denbury obtained the right to use the hole without payment by virtue of the Board orders and Plan of Unitization.

4. <u>Plaintiffs are Barred by the Doctrines of Collateral Estoppel and Res</u> Judicata from Attacking the Board Orders.

The Board carefully considered the Plan of Unitization. Denbury carefully executed each statutory step to have the Unit and Plan of Unitization approved. The Board approved and adopted the Plan of Unitization and placed it into effect. Those orders and contracts govern the rights among the royalty and working interest owners. At no point did the Plaintiffs object to the Plan of Unitization, the formation of the Unit or its implementation.

Mississippi Code section 53-3-119 provided the Plaintiffs thirty days from September 17, 2003 to appeal the Order of the Board adopting and approving the Plan of Unitization. The Plaintiffs also had thirty days from November 6, 2003 to appeal the Order implementing the Plan of Unitization. The Plaintiffs failed to appeal. The Board's Orders are final and conclusive. The Plaintiffs cannot collaterally attack the provisions of the Plan of Unitization by bypassing the statutory appeal process. See *Frost v. Gulf Oil Corp.*, 119 So. 2d 759, 764-65 (Miss. 1960); *Biloxi-Pascagoula Real Estate Bd., Inc. v. Miss. Regional Housing Auth. No. VIII*, 94 So. 2d 793, 794 (Miss. 1957).

The Plaintiffs' lawsuit attempts to bypass the Board's orders and the express terms of the Plan of Unitization by claiming Denbury has no right to re-enter and workover the Well without

έ.

1.

1.

1.

paying compensation. See Pltfs' Brief at IV, IX, and 12. However, Articles 3.1, 3.8, 10.1, and 10.3.1 of the Unit Agreement and Articles 10.1, 10.1.1, and 10.1.2 of the Unit Operating Agreement specifically provide Denbury with the right to re-enter and workover the Well without payment. Plaintiffs' contradictory assertions constitute an untimely collateral attack on the Board's orders.

In *Frost v. Gulf Oil Corp.*, *supra*, certain mineral owners sued the operator claiming their mineral rights at a certain depth were not subject to an order of the Board establishing unit operations, providing for production allowables, and fixing the mineral owners royalty interest at a much lower interest than they claimed they were entitled. *Frost*, 119 So. 2d at 764. Although due notice was given, the mineral owners "made no appearance before the Board at the hearing resulting in the order They cannot now make a collateral attack on that order." *Id.* at 765 (emphasis added).

The doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel similarly apply to the Board's Orders. In *Smith v. University of Mississippi*, 797 So. 2d 956 (Miss. 2001), the Supreme Court held:

Under Mississippi law, res judicata or collateral estoppel precludes relitigation of administrative decision. . . Further, this Court has held that "[o]nce an agency decision is final and the decision remains unappealed beyond the time to appeal, it is barred by administrative res judicata or collateral estoppel." Zimmerman v. Three Rivers Planning & Dev. Dist., 747 So. 2d 853, 861 (Miss. App. 1999). The holding in [Hood v. Miss. Dep't of Wildlife Conservation, 571, So.2d 263 (Miss. 1990)] dictates that the doctrine of res judicata precludes not only further litigation of claims that were actually raised in prior proceeding, but also any claim that could have been raised in the earlier suit. Hood, 571 So. 2d at 267-69. Smith's claims are likewise barred by res judicata because he did not properly appeal the [administrative agency's] decision.

Smith, 797 So. 2d at 963.

ι.

In Hood v. Mississippi Department of Wildlife Conservation, 571 So. 2d 263 (Miss. 1990),¹⁰ the plaintiff filed suit in civil court rather than properly following the statutory administrative appeals process that was designed to address his claims that he was wrongfully discharged for employment. *Hood*, 571 So. 2d at 267. After the administrative agency's decision was made, the plaintiff had thirty days to appeal the agency's order to the circuit court. *Id.* The plaintiff did not appeal. Instead, the plaintiff sued in chancery court, seeking reinstatement and making civil rights claims. *Id.* In holding that the plaintiff was barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* from maintaining his claims in chancery court, the Court found that the plaintiff was bringing claims that could have been brought during the administrative hearing. *Id.* "Absent statute to the contrary, a chancery court is precluded by [the doctrines of *res judicata* or collateral estoppel] once an administrative agency, acting in a fact-finding capacity, enters its ruling. As such, the chancery court is precluded from entertaining the claim Hood now asserts." *Id.* at 268 n.5.

¹⁰ Hood was reversed in part by *East Mississippi State Hospital v. Callens*, 892 So. 2d 800 (Miss. 2004) as to its holding that failure to exhaust administrative appeals precluded the plaintiff from bringing a constitutional civil rights claim against public official in their individual capacitates under 42 U.S.C. § 1982. See *Callens*, 892 So. 2d at 812. The Plaintiffs have not alleged a violation of their civil rights.

Collateral estoppel and *res judicata* bar the Plaintiffs from relitigating issues decided by the Board. The Board found that the Plan of Unitization was fair and reasonable. The Board adopted, approved, and placed the Agreements in effect to all Unit owners. Those orders require the Plaintiffs' claims to be dismissed.

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